IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO: SC09-2057

TFB NO. 2008-10,927(13C)

v.

TIMOTHY ALLEN PATRICK,

Respondent.

/

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

MANEY, DAMSKER, JONES & KUHLMAN, P.A. DAVID A. MANEY, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 092312 LEE S. DAMSKER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 172859 606 E Madison Street Tampa, FL 33602 (813) 228.7371 Attorneys for Appellant

Statement of Facts
Summary of Argument16
I. Argument I19
II. Argument II
III. Argument III
Conclusion
Certificate of Service
Certificate of Compliance

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<i>Florida Bar v. Breed</i> , 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979)18, 32
<i>Florida Bar v. Corbin</i> , 701 So.2d 334 (Fla. 1997)
<i>Florida Bar v. Dawson</i> , 318 So.2d 385 (Fla. 1975)17, 30 <i>Cert. Den.</i> 96 S.Ct. 442 (1975)
<i>Florida Bar v. Hines</i> , 2010 WL 2301711 (Fla. 2010)29
<i>Florida Bar v. Morse</i> , 587 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1991)33
<i>Florida Bar v. Pape</i> , 918 So.2d 240, 243 (Fla. 2005)
Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970)16, 19
<i>Florida Bar v. Shankman,</i> 2010 WL 2680248 (Fla. 2010)32
<i>Florida Bar v. Shoureas</i> , 892 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 2004)19
<i>Florida Bar v. Ticktin</i> , 14 So.3d 928 (Fla. 2009)32
<i>Florida Bar v. Varner</i> , 780 So.2d 1 (Fla. 2006)34
<i>State v. Dawson</i> , 111 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1959)

OTHER AUTHORITIES:

Rule 3-4.3 of Rules of Professional Conduct	
Rule 4-1.8(e) of Rules of Professional Conduct	2, 17, 29, 31

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, **TIMOTHY A. PATRICK**, shall be referred to as "Patrick". The transcript shall be referred to as "T", followed by the applicable page number. The record shall be referred to as "R" followed by the applicable tab number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar, hereinafter "The Bar," filed its Complaint in this matter on November 4, 2009. R.1. The Bar alleged that the Respondent, Timothy A. Patrick, hereinafter "Patrick" had promised to pay the opposing party's attorneys' fees and costs if his client lost a case, and Patrick later reneged on this promise. R.1. The Bar also alleged that Patrick's payment of a portion of the client's appellate attorneys' fees constituted improper financial assistance to the client, in violation of Rule 4-1.8(e).

This case proceeded to a final evidentiary hearing on the merits before the referee on March 25, 2010. R.14; T.1-T.255

On April 27, 2010, the Honorable Jack Helinger issued his Report of Referee, holding that Patrick had improperly promised to pay any judgment for attorney's fees imposed against his client in the event that the litigation proved to be unsuccessful. The Referee also found that, Patrick had "improperly continued the litigation by agreeing to pay and then paying a portion of the [appellate] attorney's fee in violation of Rule 3-4.3 and Rule 4-1.8(e)." R.18.

A sanction hearing was held on May 4, 2010. R.20. On May 5, 2010, the referee issued his "Report of Referee Discipline Hearing" wherein he ruled that Patrick should be suspended from the practice of law for a period of one year, that

Patrick must successfully complete an ethics course and must pass the ethics portion of the Florida Bar examination. R.20.

Patrick filed his Motion for Rehearing on May 7, 2010. R.21.

On May 13, 2010, the Referee granted the Motion for Rehearing to the extent of modifying one finding of fact but in all other respects, the Motion for Rehearing was denied. R.22.

Patrick served his Respondent's Petition for Review on June 24, 2010.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Craig A. Newman, D.C. a Tampa chiropractic physician, filed a complaint against Patrick with the Florida Bar in April of 2009. T.16.

Newman treated Michael Riley, and his wife, Reem Riley for injuries that they sustained in an automobile accident. T.17-18. Newman billed their insurance company, Progressive, for an initial examination and Progressive reduced his bill from \$275 to \$245 for each patient.¹ T18. Newman disliked the fact that Progressive had cut his bill and referred this matter to his attorney, Jeff Coleman. T.18.

Newman had previously filed approximately 10 PIP cases before he contacted Coleman's office. T.11.

Prior to retaining Jeff Coleman, he had referred PIP cases to attorneys Woody Isom and Jim Miles. T.18-19. In the past, Newman would send the attorney the information and the attorney would write a PIP demand letter directed to the insurance company. The insurance company would then turn around and mail Newman a check for the amount of the PIP demand, \$20 to \$50 or more, and the attorney would get his fee. T.19. The Michael Riley and Reem Riley cases involved a \$24 claim in each case. T.19-20.

¹ Newman asserted that he was entitled to 80% of the \$30 reduction or \$24 for each patient.

Jeff Coleman had handled prior PIP claims for Newman and now worked in the offices of Timothy A. Patrick, P.A., Attorney at Law. T.18. T.167. The PIP claims were all small cases because the insurance companies cut his bill just a little bit. T.40. Nationwide typically cut Newman's charges by \$25. T.41. After reviewing the PIP demand letter the insurer would settle. Newman also knew of the GEICO class action where the providers who had filed PIP suits had been paid. T.41.

On January 2, 2003, Newman signed a Legal Services Fee Contract with Patrick's firm. Respondent's Exhibit No. 1. T.44. This contract provided that the insurance company would be solely responsible for the attorney's fee if Newman prevailed:

1. This is the type of case where, if the client prevails, the insurance company will be required to pay the client's reasonable attorney's fees. It is therefore understood that, if the client prevails, the law firm will seek compensation of his attorney's fees solely from the insurance company.

2. If the client does not prevail, or if a lawsuit is dismissed by the court, a law firm will not be entitled to seek compensation for attorney's fees from the client...

However, the contract also provided that if the insurance company should prevail, the client, in this case Newman, would be responsible for the insurance companies' fees: 3. The client further understands that if the insurance company prevails then the client, and the client alone, may be responsible for the insurance companies' attorney's fees and costs. Respondent's Exhibit No. 1

The contract also contained an integration clause. Respondent's Exhibit No. 1.

Jeff Coleman left Patrick's office. T.103. He decided to take the bodily injury cases with him but not the PIP cases. T.20; T.103. After Jeff Coleman left his firm, Patrick communicated with Newman for the first time in his letter of June 3, 2003. Respondent's Exhibit No. 2B. This letter was prophetic:

> ...Progressive typically does not settle these cases. As such, please understand that you may well have to go the distance in this case as Progressive vigorously defends these cases. Progressive will also probably file an Offer of Judgment or Proposal of Settlement at some point which will substantially increase the risk of this case. Said Offer or Proposal could potentially subject you to Progressive's attorney's fees and costs, which could be sizeable. I am willing to pursue this case, but I just want you to understand the fight that may lie ahead.

Newman said he did not recall this letter, but it "probably crossed my desk."

T.49. The PIP suit for Reem Riley and Michael Riley was filed in 2003, and as Patrick predicted, Progressive vigorously defended. There was extensive discovery. Dr. Newman answered interrogatories, was deposed on two occasions, participated in two mediations and one non-binding arbitration. Respondent's Exhibit Nos. 3, 7 & 8. T.20; T.174.

As Patrick had predicted, Progressive filed proposals of settlement in the Reem Riley and Michael Riley cases. The proposal of settlement in the Reem Riley case was for \$100.00 and the proposal in the Michael Riley case was for \$1.00. Bar Exhibits Nos. 3 and 4. T.50. On February 12, 2004, Patrick sent Newman a certified letter in each case enclosing the proposal of settlement and explaining that if he accepted the offer the case was over. If he rejected the offer he must obtain a judgment, including attorney's fees and costs, of at least 75% of Progressive's proposal of settlement or he would be responsible for Progressive's attorney's fees and costs. Newman rejected the proposals of settlement in writing on February 20, 2004. T.50. Bar Exhibit Nos. 3 and 4. Patrick did not offer to indemnify Newman when he rejected the proposals for settlement. T.51.

Approximately two months later, on April 19, 2004, Newman and Patrick attended the second mediation. The Mediator was retired Circuit Court Judge F. Dennis Alvarez. Respondent's Exhibit No. 8. T.22.

At the time of this mediation, Newman had two \$24 claims against Progressive. T.81-82. Progressive offered to pay \$2,500 to settle the case at mediation. T23; T82. Patrick indicated he had approximately 60 hours in the case and he charged \$250 per hour. T.24; T.25. Judge Alvarez responded that Progressive was not going to come close to that. T.184. Judge Alvarez then

advised Newman that it was his decision whether or not to accept the settlement offer. T.183.

Judge Alvarez then left and Newman discussed the matter with Patrick. At this point, the testimony diverged. Newman testified that he wanted to accept the \$2,500 to settle the \$48 dollar claim but Patrick urged him to continue the case. T.23; T.25. At that time, Newman was under the impression that he would owe Patrick 60 hours work at \$250 per hour plus his associate's time and his costs if he settled the case. T.82-83. He did not realize until later when he reviewed the contract that if he did not win he would not owe Patrick any fees, "I didn't do my due diligence to sign that." T.83.

Newman testified that when he said he wanted to settle the case Patrick promised that if they lost the case, Patrick would pay his attorney's fees. T.83-84.

Patrick testified that the issue of Patrick paying Newman's attorney's fees never came up. T.113. He never told Newman that if the case was lost he would pay all of the attorneys' fees assessed against Newman. T.186. He had never made such a proposal to any client. T.186. Progressive's settlement offer was turned down. T.27.

The Referee resolved the testimonial dispute in favor of the Florida Bar. R.18., pages 5-6 at subparagraphs a.a. and b.b.

The PIP case proceeding to a trial that lasted two and one half days. T.194. At the conclusion of the trial the court ruled in Newman's favor as to the Reem Riley case and awarded \$24 plus his attorney's fees. Respondent's Exhibit No. 11. The court ruled against Newman in the Michael Riley case and held that Michael Riley had exhausted his benefits during the proceeding. Respondent's Exhibit No. 12. After two further days of hearing, the trial court awarded Newman \$120,772.50 in attorney's fees and over \$9,000 in expert witness fees and costs in the Reem Riley case. The trial court awarded Progressive \$9,000.00 in attorney's fees and \$1,200 in costs in the Michael Riley case. Respondent's Exhibit No. 15

In Paragraph 7 of the order, the Honorable Michelle Sisco provided:

Plaintiff shall pay the foregoing amount to counsel for the Defendant within twenty (20) days of the date of entry of this Order, or if the parties agree in writing the Defendant may simply deduct \$10,200 from the total amount owed to the Plaintiff for attorney's fees and costs.

Respondent's Exhibit No. 15, p. 5.

The parties agreed that Progressive's fees and costs would be offset from Newman's fees and costs. T.194.

After entry of this order, Progressive perfected its appeal of the Reem Riley case to the circuit court. Patrick recommended to Newman that he retain an Orlando attorney, Rand Saltsgaver, as appellant counsel. T.112. Newman retained Mr. Saltsgaver on or about February 14, 2005. Bar Exhibit No. 4; Respondent's Exhibit No. 14. Newman entered into a pure contingency contract with Saltsgaver:

I understand that this is a contingent fee contract and if no recovery is made, I will not be obligated to pay attorney's fees. Also, if there is no recovery, I will not be obligated to reimburse the attorneys for any costs incurred for representing me in these appeals. Bar Exhibit No. 4

The contract did provide that if there was a recovery and the court awarded fees, Newman would be obligated to pay the statutory attorney's fees to counsel and would reimburse the attorneys for any costs they had incurred to the extent the court awarded those costs. Bar Exhibit No. 4. T.55-56.

On appeal, the circuit court reversed the award in favor of Reem Riley and affirmed the award against Michael Riley and awarded Progressive its attorney's fees and costs. T.30. Rand Saltsgaver sent Newman a copy of the opinion. T.30-31. Soon thereafter, Newman called Patrick and in an "irate" telephone call told Patrick that he had agreed to pay Progressive's fees. T.114-115; T.31-32.

Patrick heatedly denied any such agreement. T. 32. T.115. Patrick responded that he did not know what Newman was talking about. T.32. Newman then hung up. T.32.

Rand Saltsgaver made it clear that he did not want to proceed further in the case. T116. Patrick then contacted a board certified appellate attorney, David Caldevilla, to see if he was interested in handling the case. T.33. Caldevilla met Patrick for lunch and told him that he would handle the case but only on an hourly

basis because it was very difficult to reverse an appellate decision. T.131. He normally charged \$450 per hour, but decided to bill the case at \$450 per hour and only require the client to pay \$225 per hour, with the provision that he would recover the entire \$450 per hour if he prevailed on appeal. T.132,134.

After he returned to his office, Caldevilla thought better of his arrangement and decided he would charge Newman \$225 per hour, one half of his normal hourly rate, with a contingency fee kicker of an additional \$225 per hour if he prevailed on appeal. T135.

Patrick called Newman and recommended David Caldevilla as appellate counsel. He related Caldevilla's fee arrangement of charging \$450 per hour but only requiring the client to pay \$225 per hour. T.134.

In a later conversation, Newman stated that he could not afford to pay the entire fee and asked if Patrick would pay half. T.117. Patrick agreed as he already had advanced \$9,000 in costs. T.117.

Newman contacted Caldevilla the following day asking how much he charged. Caldevilla responded that he normally charged \$450 per hour but would charge \$225 per hour in this case. Newman laughed and said that was different than what Patrick had told him. Caldevilla responded that he had changed his mind on how he would bill the case. T.71; T.135. He would bill a straight \$225 per hour for his time with a contingency fee kicker of an additional \$225 per hour

if he prevailed on appeal. T155. Caldevilla recommended that Newman file a motion for rehearing of the circuit court decision. Caldevilla testified that Newman authorized Caldevilla to do so. T.135.

On March 30, 2007, Caldevilla sent Craig Newman and Patrick his fee agreement. It was Caldevilla's practice to send fee agreements and monthly billing statements to referring counsel. T.127; T.137. Caldevilla never had an agreement with Patrick whereby Patrick would pay his fee. T.141.

Newman received the letter but he did not sign it. T.63. He did not advise Caldevilla that he was not going to sign the fee letter nor did he advise Caldevilla that he was not authorized to represent him on the motion for rehearing. T.66-67.

An oral argument was held on the motion for rehearing filed by Caldevilla on May 8, 2007. Newman was present at the oral argument. Respondent's Exhibit No. 20, June 12, 2007 statement. T.144-145. Newman did not advise Caldevilla that he was not authorized to represent him and that Newman had no intention of paying him. T.145. The motion for rehearing was denied on July 9, 2007. Respondent's Exhibit No. 22. On July 18, 2007, Caldevilla sent Newman a letter advising him that the rehearing had been denied. The first paragraph of this letter provided:

> As you may recall, you retained me a few months ago to assist Tim Patrick with the above-entitled reference circuit court appeals. Among other things, I filed a motion for

rehearing, responded to Progressive's cross-motion for rehearing and attended a hearing on those motions.

Caldevilla outlined Newman's options:

(1) do nothing, or (2) seek further appellate review in the Florida Second District Court of Appeal.

Respondent's Exhibit No. 22, page 1.

If Newman did nothing he would be responsible for Progressive's attorney's fees and costs in the trial court and in the circuit court appeal. Caldevilla recommended that Newman seek further appellate court review and stated that he thought the circuit court decision was seriously flawed and that he had a good

chance of winning. Respondent's Exhibit No. 22

Caldevilla then cautioned:

At the same time, however, if you lose the appeal, you could be held liable for additional attorney's fees and costs incurred in that appeal.

Caldevilla then stated:

If you want me to handle the new appeal, I will apply the same hourly rates, terms and conditions that we currently have in place on the existing appeals...

Respondent's Exhibit No. 22, pp. 1-2.

Shortly thereafter, in a conference call between Newman, Patrick and Caldevilla, Newman authorized Caldevilla to seek appellate review in the second district. T.150. Respondent's Exhibit No. 20, August 14, 2007 statement.

Newman did not mention the fact that he had not retained Caldevilla, that Newman was not responsible for Caldevilla's attorney's fees, and that Caldevilla should look to Patrick for payment of those fees. T.66-67.

On August 15, 2007, Newman filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the Second District. On August 29, 2007, the Second District entered an order directing Progressive to file a response. Respondent's Exhibit No. 24. Patrick then filed a motion for stay pending the outcome of the Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the trial court on September 4, 2007. Respondent's Exhibit No. 25. The hearing on this motion was scheduled for October 29, 2007. Respondent's Exhibit No. 25.

Caldevilla called Newman before the appellate disposition and pressed him to pay his bill. T.139. Newman responded that he had not signed Caldevilla's Fee Agreement. T.139. In a later phone call, Caldevilla advised Newman that he had never had a client who had hired him and then refused to sign a fee agreement after Newman had attended hearings with him and after Caldevilla had worked on the case. T.141; T.143. Newman responded that the bill was Patrick's responsibility. T.143.

The Referee resolved this dispute in favor of the Bar and found that Patrick had retained Caldevilla. R.18, page 5 at subparagraph v.

At about this time, Scott Dutton, counsel for Progressive, contacted Newman directly and stated that pursuant to Progressive's judgment against Newman, he was going to levy upon his office equipment. T.35.

Newman then retained Michael Addison, Esquire to represent him. T.35.

On December 12, 2007, Addison filed a separate motion for stay pending review on behalf of Newman. Respondent's Exhibit No. 26.

At approximately this time, Patrick moved to withdraw from the case. Bar Exhibit No. 10.

The circuit court entered an order granting the stay pending review on December 19, 2007. Respondent's Exhibit No. 28.

The Second District denied Newman's Petition for Writ of Certiorari. T35.

Newman ultimately compromised Progressive's claim for fees and costs. T.35-39.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The standard of review of a Referee's finding of fact is whether the Referee's findings are supported by substantial, competent evidence. However, where the Respondent has fully and completely denied the asserted wrongful act, the evidence must be clear and convincing and that degree of evidence does not flow from the testimony of one witness, unless such witness is corroborated to some extent either by facts or circumstances. *The Florida Bar v. Rayman*, 238 So.2d 594,597 (Fla. 1970).

The Bar's case, relies upon the essentially uncorroborated testimony of the complainant, Craig Newman, D.C. Newman testified that during mediation, at a time when only he and Patrick were present, Patrick verbally promised to indemnify Newman for the insurer's attorneys' fees and costs if Newman's PIP case was lost. There are no writings or other witnesses to corroborate this testimony.

The documentary evidence is to the contrary. The fee agreement executed by Newman specifically provided that if the insurance company prevailed, the client would be responsible for the insurance company's attorneys' fees and costs. Respondent's Exhibit No. 1. Further, in his June 3, 2003 letter, Patrick specifically advised Newman that the insurer, Progressive, would file a Proposal of Settlement

which could potentially subject Newman to Progressive's attorneys' fees and costs, "which could be sizeable." Respondent's Exhibit No. 2B.

The Bar's contention, which was adopted by the Referee, was that *three years later* when Patrick agreed to advance a portion of Newman's appellate attorneys' fees this act constituted the necessary corroboration of the alleged verbal agreement whereby Patrick was to indemnify Newman for the *opposing* party's fees and costs. T.18, page 6 at subparagraph c.c.

Where Newman's testimony was evasive and contradicted by documented evidence there was insufficient competent evidence in the record to support the Referee's finding of guilt on this issue.

The issue of whether Patrick provided improper financial assistance to his client by agreeing to advance a portion of his appellate attorneys' fees is a pure question of law which may be reviewed by this Court de novo. It is undisputed that Patrick agreed to pay a portion of Newman's appellate attorneys' fees for which he was to be reimbursed if the appeal was successful.

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