IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| THE FLORIDA BAR, | CASE NO. | SC09-2057 |
|------------------------|----------|------------------|
| Complainant, | TFB NO. | 2008-10,927(13C) |
| v. | | |
| TIMOTHY ALLEN PATRICK, | | |
| Respondent. | / | |

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Troy Matthew Lovell Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 4200 George J. Bean Parkway Suite 2580 Tampa, Florida 33607-1496 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No.: 946036

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee correctly found that Respondent promised to indemnify his client for any judgment he might incur for the insurer's attorney's fees.

Although the testimony of Dr. Newman alone would be sufficient to support this finding, the finding was also supported by corroborating facts and circumstances.

The Referee also correctly found that Respondent's payment of the appellate attorney fees of attorney Caldevilla were an improper inducement to Dr. Newman to continue the litigation. This conclusion is a recommended finding of fact and should be upheld because it is supported by competent, substantial evidence; a *de novo* review would be inappropriate.

Finally, the Referee's recommended sanction is supported by current case law and should be adopted by this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for evaluating a referee's findings of fact and recommendations as to guilt is whether the findings of fact and conclusions concerning guilt are supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record. *Florida Bar v. Shoureas*, 892 So.2d 1002, 1005 (Fla. 2004). The Florida Bar agrees with Respondent that this standard of review applies to this Court's review of the Referee's finding that Respondent promised to indemnify his client for any fee award to the insurer.

Respondent argues that the Referee's recommendation of guilt as to Rule 4-1.8(e) for payment of a portion of his client's appellate attorney fees should be reviewed *de novo* because Respondent claims this issue is solely a question of law. The Bar contends that the finding of a violation is a factual determination and should be affirmed if supported by competent, substantial evidence.

The Florida Bar agrees with Respondent that in reviewing a referee's recommended discipline, this Court's scope of review is broader than that afforded to the referee's findings of fact because ultimately it is this Court's responsibility to order the appropriate sanction. As a general rule, this Court will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as it has a

reasonable basis in existing case law. *Florida Bar v. Maurice*, 955 So.2d 535, 541 (Fla. 2007).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The Referee's Finding Regarding Respondent's Promise to Indemnify Was Supported by Substantial, Competent Evidence

Respondent represented Dr. Craig Newman on two claims under PIP for \$24 each, plus statutory attorney fees which would go to Respondent. ROR-Guilt, p.2, paragraphs IIb and IIc. "Because the defending insurance company, Progressive, had previously made offers of judgment, Dr. Newman risked being liable for the insurance company's attorney fees if his claims were unsuccessful. *Id.*, p.3, paragraph IIh. At mediation, Progressive offered to settle the cases for approximately \$2,500, which more than covered Dr. Newman's claims, but would not have covered the time and expenses Respondent had already invested in the cases. *Id.*, p.3, paragraph IIi. The Referee found that Dr. Newman was inclined to accept the settlement offer, but was induced to reject it because Respondent promised that, if the case was unsuccessful, Respondent would pay any fee award to Progressive. *Id.*, pp. 5-6, paragraph IIaa. Respondent sought review of this finding, The Bar contends that the Court should uphold the ruling because it is supported by substantial, competent evidence.

Respondent correctly notes that this Court will uphold recommended findings of fact by a referee provided that those findings are supported by

substantial, competent evidence. *Florida Bar v. Shoureas*, 892 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 2004). Respondent, however, relies on *Florida Bar v. Rayman*, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970), to argue that the Bar's burden of proof of clear and convincing evidence cannot be met by the testimony of a single witness without corroboration. Respondent misunderstands the holding of *Rayman*, which was further clarified by *Florida Bar v. Fredericks*, 731 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1999). A single witness's testimony can meet the burden of clear and convincing evidence, unless that testimony is evasive, inconclusive, and inconsistent. In any event, the Referee's finding in this proceeding was supported by more than just the testimony of Newman.

In *Rayman*, two attorneys were accused of accepting money to bribe the judge handling a case. The complaining witness testified that he gave approximately \$2,600 to one of the attorneys and separately gave approximately \$2,400 to the other attorney. An attorney retained by the complainant for a civil claim testified that the complainant claimed to have given \$5,000 in a single payment to only one of the attorneys. *Rayman*, 238 So.2d at 597. No evidence was offered to explain or clarify the discrepancy. Under those circumstances, the Court held that the testimony of a single witness, which was confused and contradictory about key facts of the alleged misconduct, could not alone support a finding of misconduct to the

standard of clear and convincing evidence. *Id.* at 598. The problem in *Rayman* was the unexplained contradictory evidence, not the reliance on a single witness; the Court even noted that the complaining witness's testimony, standing alone, would have been "certainly sufficient" to support the referee's findings. *Id.* at 597.

In *Fredericks*, the Court confirmed that a single witness is sufficient to support factual findings to a standard of clear and convincing evidence, provided that the testimony is not evasive, inconclusive, and inconsistent. The *Fredericks* court noted that the testimony of the witness in question did not contain major inconsistencies; therefore, *Rayman* did not apply. *Fredericks*, 731 So.2d at 1251. The attorney's argument essentially was a mere complaint that the referee failed to credit the attorney's testimony over that of the witness. Because the referee is in a unique position to evaluate the credibility of witnesses, this Court in *Fredericks* deferred to the referee's assessment; this Court should do likewise in this proceeding. *Id*.

Furthermore, in this proceeding, the Referee had more supporting evidence for his findings than merely the testimony of Dr. Newman. As the Referee noted, Dr. Newman's behavior during the course of the litigation was consistent with his testimony. ROR-Guilt, p.6, paragraph IIcc. For example, when the initial appellate decision was adverse, Dr. Newman

immediately called Respondent demanding that Respondent fulfill his promise to indemnify for the award to Progressive. The moment the indemnification promise became relevant, Dr. Newman immediately raised the issue. In addition, Dr. Newman's testimony was consistent with the interests of the parties. Proceeding after mediation meant high risk and zero reward for Dr. Newman, but low risk and a potentially high reward for Respondent. Finally, Dr. Newman's testimony was especially credible because it was detailed and consistent, like the witness in *Fredericks*.

By contrast, Respondent's testimony was both uncertain and inconsistent with his own behavior. Respondent claimed to remember little from the mediation conference other than his claim that no indemnification promise was ever discussed and that Respondent offered no advice to Dr.

Newman about whether to settle the matters. TT, pp.106, 109, 184, and 216-217. The only topic Respondent recalled being discussed was the amount of time and costs he had already invested into the case, though he claimed that issue was not raised in an effort to discourage settlement. TT, pp. 105 and 185. In addition, Respondent's behavior was inconsistent with his own testimony. According to Respondent, the first he heard of any purported indemnification promise was in the phone call from Dr. Newman after the initial appellate decision was adverse. TT, pp.115 and 198. In that call,

according to Respondent, Dr. Newman accused Respondent of entering into a highly unethical agreement. Yet, Respondent did not withdraw but proceeded to agree to pay a portion of Caldevilla's fees in order to pursue further appellate remedies. Respondent's reaction is inconsistent with being surprised by false accusations of serious ethical misconduct by a client. The Referee was best-positioned to evaluate the credible testimony of Dr. Newman in contrast to the inconsistent and uncertain testimony of Respondent. This Court should accept the Referee's recommended findings of fact, which are supported by competent, substantial evidence.

In his brief, Respondent argues that Dr. Newman's testimony was evasive and contradicted by documentary evidence, but the record does not support that contention. As noted above, Dr. Newman was clear and consistent about all of the relevant details related to Respondent's misconduct. Respondent does not even challenge Dr. Newman's testimony on these points, but claims his testimony regarding the terms of his representation by Caldevilla was evasive. Like the witness in *Fredericks*, Dr. Newman gave clear and consistent testimony which amply supports the Referee's findings.

Respondent also points to numerous documents, such as the retainer agreement and various letters, and claims that their failure to mention the

indemnification promise undermines Dr. Newman's credibility. The documents in question, however, were all written prior to the mediation conference at which the promise was made. Respondent's Exhibit 1 and 2-B; TFB Exhibits 2 and 3. The documents could not possibly have memorialized a promise which had not yet been made so their silence about that promise has no evidentiary value. Respondent is merely rehashing arguments of credibility which have been resolved by the Referee, who was better-positioned to evaluate the testimony. The Referee's findings should be adopted by this Court.

ISSUE II: The Referee Correctly Found that Respondent's Payment of a Portion of Caldevilla's Appellate Attorney's Fees Violated Rule 4-1.8(e)

After winning one case and losing one case at trial level, the cases proceeded on appeal to the circuit court. The circuit court ruled in Progressive's favor on both cases, resulting in substantial liability for Progressive's attorney fees pursuant to the offers of judgment. After that result, Respondent and Newman sought the services of attorney David Caldevilla to pursue additional appellate remedies. Unlike prior appellate counsel who was to be paid on a contingency basis, Caldevilla was to be paid on an hourly basis. TT, p.116. Respondent agreed to pay one-half of Caldevilla's fee. TT, p.117. The Referee concluded that these payments

constituted an improper financing of litigation in violation of Rule 4-1.8(e), ROR-Guilt, p.8, paragraph IV. Respondent sought review of that finding. Because the Referee's finding is supported by substantial, competent evidence, this Court should uphold that finding.

Respondent argues that the Referee's recommendation on this issue is a conclusion of law and should, therefore, be reviewed *de novo*, but the Bar disagrees. The Florida Bar does not contend that the payment of appellate attorney fees would violate Rule 4-1.8(e) as a matter of law in all circumstances. Rather, the Bar contends that Respondent's payment of these appellate attorney's fees under the circumstances and terms under which they were paid was an improper inducement. The purpose of the rule is to prevent having attorneys encourage the pursuit of litigation that would not otherwise be brought. Comment, Rule 4-1.8. In this instance, Respondent's funding of the Caldevilla appellate attorney fees was intended to extend litigation which would otherwise have terminated. The finding of a violation is therefore a factual determination on which the Referee should be accorded greater deference. The Referee's recommended finding should be upheld because it is supported by substantial, competent evidence.

The evidence presented at the final hearing strongly supports the Referee's conclusion. Respondent's own behavior demonstrates that he

considered the payment to be an improper inducement, rather than a mere advancing of fees. First, Respondent claims that he treated those fees as litigation costs which he was advancing consistent with other litigation costs pursuant to the Report of Referee. But the Retainer Agreement called for Respondent to pay all costs of litigation, not half, and Respondent did pay the full cost of other expenses, such as court reporters and experts. TT, pp. 121-123; Respondent's Exhibit 1. The fact that Respondent only agreed to pay half demonstrated that he viewed the Caldevilla attorney fees as something different.

Second, Respondent's deceptive behavior regarding the payment of the fees demonstrates that he viewed it as an improper inducement.

Respondent never told Caldevilla that he had agreed to pay half of the fees.

When Caldevilla discovered that Respondent had been making payments and asked Respondent about it, Respondent feigned surprise. TT, pp.141-142. Respondent knew he had agreed to pay those fees but felt the need to conceal that fact from Caldevilla. One cannot imagine Respondent being similarly evasive about the payment of a court reporter or expert.

Third, Respondent's behavior in abandoning the payment of Caldevilla's fees demonstrates his dishonest intent. Respondent paid half of the fees while the appeals were proceeding. When the adverse decisions

were received, however, Respondent stopped paying his half of the fee, leaving Caldevilla to collect from Dr. Newman. *See*, Respondent's Exhibit 23. Again, one cannot imagine Respondent behaving similarly with regard to genuine litigation costs, such as court reporter fees or expert fees. Respondent's conduct demonstrated his dishonest intent and supported the Referee's finding that Respondent's payment of one-half of Caldevilla's fees constituted an improper inducement.

Finally, the timing of the agreement to pay Caldevilla's fee demonstrates that it was intended as an improper inducement. At the time the issue arose, Dr. Newman had received the adverse appellate decisions from the circuit court and was demanding that Respondent fulfill his promise to indemnify Dr. Newman for any attorney fee judgment in favor of Progressive. Those circumstances, combined with the unusual manner in which Respondent handled those fees compared to the way he handled genuine costs, provide ample support for the Referee's conclusion that Respondent's payment of those fees was an improper inducement.

ISSUE III: The Referee's Recommended Sanction is Appropriate

After considering the evidence of this misconduct as well as evidence related to aggravating and mitigating factors, the Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended for one year and also be required to take an ethics

course and pass the ethics section of the Florida bar examination. Given the seriousness of the misconduct, the harm caused to the client, and Respondent's disciplinary history, the Referee's recommended sanction is appropriate and should be upheld.

Because this Court has ultimate responsibility for attorney discipline, it exercises broader discretion in reviewing recommendations of discipline than in reviewing recommended findings of fact. Nevertheless, this Court will generally not second-guess a referee's recommended sanction as long as it has a reasonable basis in existing case law. *Florida Bar v. Maurice*, 955 So.2d 535, 541 (Fla. 2007). The Referee's recommended sanction is supported by a reasonable basis on existing authority, and should be accepted by this Court.

The Referee found two aggravating factors in Respondent's misconduct, each of which was appropriately found and considered. ROR-Discipline, p.3. First, the Referee noted Respondent's prior disciplinary history. On March 8, 2007, Respondent was ordered to receive a Public Reprimand by this Court. TFB Sanctions Exhibits 1-A and 1-B. Significantly, the misconduct at issue in the 2007 public reprimand cases was extremely similar to the misconduct at issue in this proceeding in that those cases involved situations in which Respondent was acting in his own

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